1948

James C. Whittaker v. Richard Spencer, John  
Edison Spencer, Elizabeth A. Tibbs, Vord Spencer,  
Irwin M. Price, Simon Huguen-Tobler, Indianola  
Irrigation Company and the State of Utah : Brief of  
Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

## STATEMENT OF CASE

This action was commenced on July 21st, 1941 by the plaintiff to quiet his claim to 60 acres or shares of primary or class "A" water in Thistle Creek and its tributaries. These creeks rise in the northern end of Sanpete County and when not diverted for irrigation flow northerly into Spainsh Fork River and thence into Utah Lake.

Simon Hugentobler was made a party defendant because he held a mortgage on a tract of land owned by Richard Spencer, together with 55 shares or acres of primary class "A" water right in Thistle Creek and its tributaries.

Prior to the trial of this cause Simon Hugentobler conveyed his interest in the water of Thistle Creek and its tributaries to Que Jensen who was substituted for Simon Hugentobler.

Prior to the trial of the cause Richard H. Spencer died and Richard Leo Spencer, having been appointed administrator of the estate of his father Richard H. Spencer was substituted as a defendant for his deceased father.

J. Vord Spencer, a son of Richard H. Spencer, did not claim any interest in the controversy, except as an heir of Richard H. Spencer, deceased.

The Indianola Irrigation Company is a mutual irrigation company and as such distributes the waters of Thistle Creek and its tributaries to its stockholders who own land adjacent to said creek.

By his pleadings Richard Leo Spencer claimed all of the waters in controversy but during the course of the trial it was agreed by his counsel that Que Jensen, as successor in interest of Simon Hugentobler, was entitled to 55 acres or shares of the waters in question.

By his pleadings defendant, Irwin M. Price claimed to be the owner of 160 shares of the water in dispute,

but during the course of the trial he disclaimed any right to such stocks.

By his pleadings defendant John Edison Spencer claimed to be the owner of the water in controversy, but that eighty shares of the water was to be conveyed to his sister Elizabeth A. Tibbs, when and if he established a right thereto. During the course of the trial counsel for defendants, John Edison Spencer and Elizabeth A. Tibbs, conceded that Que Jensen, as the successor of Simon Hugentobler, was entitled to 55 shares or acres of the water right in controversy.

Elizabeth A. Tibbs claims the right to 80 shares of the water in controversy because of an agreement had between John Edison Spencer, Irwin M. Price and her father, Richard H. Spencer, and because her father Richard H. Spencer, by a warranty deed conveyed to her 80 acres of land to which she claims 80 shares or acres of the water in dispute is appurtenant.

In order that the court may more readily understand what appellants, John Edison Spencer and Elizabeth A. Tibbs, claim for the evidence, which we shall presently summarize, we at the outset claim:

1. That the plaintiff, James C. Whittaker, does not have any title to the 60 shares of water right to which he seeks to quiet title because:

- (a) The mortgage under which he claims title was and is void for uncertainty as to any sixty acres or shares of water:



(b) The decree of foreclosure of the mortgage under which he claims title is void for uncertainty:

(c) The sheriff's deed which was issued pursuant to the decree of foreclosure is void for uncertainty in so far as it affects the 60 shares or acres of water right:

(d) The deed to the plaintiff from the grantee in the sheriff's deed to the 60 shares or acres of water right claimed by the plaintiff is void for uncertainty.

2. That the water right in controversy, other than the 55 shares to which Que Jensen is entitled, is appurtenant to land which Richard H. Spencer, during his lifetime, conveyed to John Edison Spencer and Elizabeth A. Tibbs and as such 80 shares or acres belongs to Elizabeth A. Tibbs and the remainder to John Edison Spencer.

3. That even if the water right is not appurtenant to the land conveyed to Elizabeth A. Tibbs and John Edison Spencer, they own the right to such waters by reason of the delivery of the stock certificate to John Edison Spencer.

The record in this case is somewhat lengthy. Much of the evidence is not in conflict. We shall direct the attention of the court to those portions of the evidence that we deem necessary to an understanding of the matters which divide the parties to this litigation.

On June 21st, 1918 the persons who claimed a water right in Thistle Creek and its tributaries ex-

ecuted Articles of Incorporation of the Indianola Irrigation Company. (See plaintiff's Exhibit 7). By such articles it was provided among other things:

#### “ARTICLE 5

The capital stock of this corporation shall be \$80,000. Eighty Thousand Dollars divided into Twenty Two Hundred shares, as follows: Eighteen Hundred shares of class “A” stock, of the par value of Forty Dollars per share, and Four Hundred shares of class “B” stock of the par value of Twenty Dollars per share.”

#### “ARTICLE 6

The purpose for which this corporation is formed, and the pursuits and business to be engaged in, is to manage, regulate, control and distribute the waters of Thistle Creek, its branches and tributaries in Sanpete County, to which it shall be entitled, to and among its stockholders in proportion to their and each of their respective rights to the use thereof, to construct and maintain all such dams, ditches, canals, gates, reservoirs, flumes and other and different structures and means which may be found necessary or convenient for the domestic and other purposes.”

#### “ARTICLE 18

Subscription to the capital stock of this corporation, by the persons above named, are made by each of such persons conveying to this corporation by good and sufficient deed one acre of primary water rights from the waters of Thistle Creek, its branches and tributaries, for

every share of class "A" stock, subscribed for by him, which said water right is taken and received by this corporation at the price and valuation of Forty Dollars per acre of such primary water rights as fully paid up subscription for such stock. And one acre of secondary water right from the above mentioned sources for every share of class "B" stock subscribed for by him, which said water rights are taken and received by this corporation at the price and valuation of Twenty Dollars per acre of such secondary water rights as fully paid up subscription for such stock, and future subscriptions to any capital stock of this corporation shall be made only upon the above terms. And the Board of Directors shall in all cases determine the sufficiency of water-rights to be received by the corporation for subscriptions for its stock. The waters hereinbefore referred to, include the waters from Thistle, Rock and Clear Creeks, their branches and tributaries."

## "ARTICLE 19

The Board of Directors shall cause the waters owned by this corporation to be distributed and divided to and among its stockholders, at the rate and in the proportion of stock held by each person, in the following manner, to wit: from and after the first day of March, to and including the 15th day of June each and every year, all the waters owned by this corporation, shall be divided among, and distributed to the stockholders of this corporation, both to class A and class B equally, pro-rate, and in proportion to the amount of stock held by each person. From and after the 15th day of June, to and including the first day of March, following,

during each and every year, the owners of class A stock of this corporation, shall be entitled, as a first right, to an amount of water equal to  $1/40$  of a second foot of water for every share of class A stock of this corporation, held by him, or if there shall not be sufficient water, owned by this corporation, to fully supply said amount, then such water as may be available, shall be divided and distributed to the holders of said class A stock, pro-rate and in the proportion to the amount of said class A stock held by each person. And if, after all of class A stock, shall first have been fully supplied with the amount of water above stated, there shall at anytime be a surplus of water, over and above what will fully supply all of class A stock, as above stated, then such surplus water shall be divided among and distributed to the holders of class B stock, pro-rate and in proportion to the amount of said class B stock held by each person."

On May 6th, 1920 a decree was entered in the district court of Sanpete County in an action entitled: "Indianola Irrigation Company, a corporation, et al., plaintiffs, vs. R. H. Spencer, et al., defendants." In such decree it was, among other things, adjudged:

"It is further ordered, adjudged and decreed that for the purposes of effecting a proper and economical method of distributing the waters of the aforesaid streams through said Indianola Irrigation Company said stream shall be divided into 1800 shares of class "A" stock, and 500 shares of class "B" stock and said stock shall be divided between the parties hereto including

the stockholders of the Indianola Irrigation Company, as follows:"

Then follows a list of persons who are decreed water rights to the total number of 1728 shares of class "A" water right. R. H. Spencer, who is the same person as Richard H. Spencer, is awarded 448 shares of class "A" stock. (See plaintiff's Exhibit "A".)

On January 23, 1922 defendant R. H. Spencer and his wife, Annie H. Spencer, executed a mortgage to Simon Hugentobler on Lot 4 of Section 5 and Lot 1 of Section 6, in Township 12 South, Range 4 East, Salt Lake Meridian, consisting of 77 acres, together with 55 shares of primary water right from the waters of Thistle Creek to secure the payment of a note for \$2577.91. That mortgage was recorded on January 12, 1922 in Sanpete County, Utah. (See Trs. pages 26 to 28).

On November 9th, 1926 Richard H. Spencer, who is the same person as R. H. Spencer, and J. Vord Spencer, Josie Spencer, his wife, H. M. Spencer and his wife Ida Spencer gave a mortgage to the Federal Building and Loan Association, a corporation, together with Two Hundred eighty-five (285) shares of capital stock of the Indianola Irrigation Company, a corporation, also all water and water right appurtenant to or used upon or in connection with the real estate described in the mortgage. The land described in the mortgage is in Sanpete County, Utah and particularly described as follows:

Beginning 7.61 chains South from the North East Corner of the South East Quarter of Section 5, Township 12 South, Range 4 East, Salt Lake Meridian, thence South 89 degrees West 18.79 chains; thence North 7.88 chains; thence West 21.21 chains; thence South 20.00 chains; thence East 40 chains; thence North 12.39 chains to the place of beginning, containing 59.46 acres, more or less.

Also:

Beginning at a point 3.89 chains South from the Southeast Corner of the Northeast Quarter of Section 5, Township 12 South of Range 4 East, Salt Lake Meridian, Utah: thence West 1 degree South 18.79 chains; thence South 3.72 chains; thence East 1 degree North 18.79 chains; thence North 3.72 chains to beginning, containing 7 acres, more or less.

Also:

Beginning at the Southeast corner of the North East quarter of Section 5, in Township 12 South, Range 4 East, Salt Lake Meridian, Utah, thence running West 3.50 chains, thence North 2.17 chains; thence West 15.29 chains; thence South 1.72 chains, thence East 4.44 chains, thence South 25° East 3.60 chains; thence South 60° 45' West 1.50 chains; thence West 4.65 chains, thence South 0.34 of a chain; thence North 89° East 18.79 chains; thence North 3.89 chains to beginning, containing 7.54 acres, more or less.

Also:

The Southeast quarter of Section 8 in Township 12 South of Range 4 East, Salt Lake Meridian, Utah.

The land and water right above described were given to secure a note for \$14,266.50. That mortgage

was recorded in Sanpete County, Utah on November 9, 1926. (See Trs. 29 to 35).

At the time R. H. Spencer executed the mortgage above mentioned he also executed and delivered to the Federal Building and Loan Association a written instrument which is in words and figures as follows:

### "ASSIGNMENT

"For value received I have bargained, sold, assigned and transferred and by these presents do bargain, sell, assign and transfer to the Federal Building and Loan Association, a Utah corporation, with its principal place of business in Ogden, Utah, all of my right, title and interest in and to Two Hundred Twenty Three (223) shares of class "A" stock in the Indianola Irrigation Company in the State of Utah with its principal place of business at Indianola, Sanpete County, State of Utah, and I further assign to said Federal Building and Loan Association any additional interest in said stock that may accrue to me in said stock, which at this time is unissued and should the same be issued I direct that it be issued to the Federal Building and Loan Association, and I hereby constitute and appoint the Federal Building and Loan Association my true and lawful attorney irrevocably for me instead to transfer said stock on the books of said company with full power of substitution and irrevocation.

Dated this 9th day of November, 1926.

Witness.

David Wilson /s/''

/s/ R. H. Spencer

(See Irrigation Co. Exhibit 1.)

The other 62 shares of the 285 shares or acres of water mortgaged to the Federal Building and Loan Association belonged to H. M. Spencer and Elizabeth Tibbs. (Tr. 342 to 405.)

On May 21, 1931 R. H. Spencer and his wife Annie H. Spencer conveyed to the defendant Elizabeth A. Tibbs :

“The NE  $\frac{1}{4}$  of the NW $\frac{1}{4}$  of Section 3, Township 12 South, Range 4 East, Salt Lake Meridian, containing 40 acres more or less.

Together with twenty acres of primary water right from Clear Creek, Rock Creek and Thistle Creek.”

That deed was recorded on May 21, 1931. (Tr. 35-36)

On October 16th, 1931 Henry M. Spencer, otherwise known as H. M. Spencer, Ida Spencer, his wife, Leo Harold Spencer and Fern Spencer, his wife, R. H. Spencer and Annie H. Spencer, his wife, mortgaged to W. H. Hadlock, State Bank Commissioner of Utah the West Half of the Northeast Quarter, the Southeast Quarter of the Northwest quarter and the North Half of the South Half of Section Three (3), Township 12 South, Range 4 East, Salt Lake Base and Meridian, containing 280 acres, subject to right of way of county road.

“Together with all right of every kind and nature, however evidenced to the use of water, ditches and canals for the irrigation of said



premises to which the mortgagors or said premises are now or may hereafter become entitled, whether represented by certificates of stock or otherwise and together with sixty (60) shares or acres of water right owned by R. H. Spencer in the waters of Indianola Creek, Thistle Creek and Rock Creeks in addition to water now used for the irrigation of the above described lands."

That mortgage was given to secure a number of notes, one for \$2440.00, one for \$4750.00, one for \$1500.00; one for \$500.00; one for \$1400.00; one for \$150.00 and one for \$5000.00.

That mortgage was recorded on October 21, 1931. (Tr. 37 to 41).

By an instrument dated June 21, 1918 a number of persons executed what purports to be a Deed of Water Rights whereby they purported to convey to the Indianola Irrigation Company certain water rights. The conveyance recites that in consideration of certificates of the capital stock of the Indianola Irrigation Company the signers grant, bargain, sell, assign, transfer and quit claim to the Indianola Irrigation Company all of their rights, titles, interest, claims and demands in and to the waters of Thistle, Rock and Clear Creeks and their tributaries the respective amounts and classes which are set opposite their names, together with all ditches, canals, dams, gates, and all other appurtenances heretofore used in the controlling and distribution of said water in accordance with the terms and conditions

contained in the articles of incorporation of the Indianola Irrigation Company.

Among the signers of the conveyance were Richard H. Spencer and his wife Annie Spencer. Through the words: "dated this 25th day of November, 1931," there is drawn in red ink a line. Under the name of Richard H. Spencer and Annie Spencer the words "One Hundred and Sixty shares class A stock."

The paper on which the names of Richard H. Spencer and Annie Spencer appear is attached to the conveyance. The acknowledgement was taken on June 1st, 1918, before H. F. Wall and shows that R. H. Spencer and Annie Spencer acknowledged the instrument on that day. (See Indianola Irrigation Co. Exhibit 5) That conveyance was read into the record and will be found at pages 43 to 49 of the transcript.

On October 29, 1933 Richard H. Spencer and Annie H. Spencer, his wife, conveyed to the defendant John E. Spencer the South one-half of the Southwest Quarter of Section 5, Township 12 South, Range 4 East, Salt Lake Meridian, together with 80 acres of water in what is known as Thistle Creek. That deed was recorded on June 22, 1933. (See page 51 and 52 of Trs.) On September 16, 1933 a deed was given to correct the description in the deed above referred to in which later deed the land conveyed is described as the North One Half of the Southwest Quarter of Section 5, Township 12 South, Range 4 East, Salt Lake Meridian, containing 80.00 acres. Together with 80 acres of water in what is

known as Thistle Creek. That deed was recorded on September 21, 1933. (Tr. 2 to 54). The last mentioned deed was offered and received in evidence as "John Edison Spencer et al., Exhibit 12."

Plaintiff offered and over objection of defendants John Edison Spencer and Elizabeth A. Tibbs, there was received in evidence certain of the files in case numbered 2888 and in which John A. Malia, as State Bank Commissioner, is plaintiff and Richard H. Spencer, John Edison Spencer, Robert D. Tibbs, Elizabeth A. Tibbs and others are defendants. Later in the proceedings all of the files in that case were received in evidence. (Tr. 73 to 80 and 576-583)

The files in 2888 civil contain the proceedings had in the mortgage foreclosure proceedings by the Bank Commissioner through which foreclosure proceedings the plaintiff in this case, as we understand his position, claims his title to 60 acres or shares of water. We shall not attempt to set out the various documents found in that case but shall content ourselves with referring to such of such documents as we deem material to this case. The files are marked: "John Edison Spencer Exhibit 14," but most of the documents therein contained were first offered by the plaintiff and over objections received in evidence as above indicated.

It will be seen from the files in said case numbered 2888 civil that the action was first brought to set aside certain deeds. After issues were made by the complaint and answers thereto an amended complaint was filed

in which numerous additional parties were made defendants and the plaintiff sought to foreclose a mortgage on both real and personal property.

In our view the only part of the proceedings had in that case which are material here are those portion thereof which relates to the foreclosure of the mortgage executed by H. M. Spencer, Ida Spencer, R. Leo Spencer, Grace Spencer, R. H. Spencer, Leo Harold Spencer and Fern Spencer. A copy of that mortgage will be found marked Exhibit "G" and made a part of the amended complaint. As heretofore indicated that mortgage covers the West Half of the Northeast Quarter, the Southeast Quarter of the the Northwest Quarter and the North Half of the South Half of Section Three (3), Township 12 South, Range 4 East, Salt Lake Base and Meridian, containing 280 acres, subject to right of way of county road.

Together with all rights of every kind and nature, however evidenced to the use of water, ditches and canals for the irrigation of said premises to which the mortgagors or said premises are now or may hereafter become entitled whether represented by certificates of stock or otherwise and together with sixty shares or acres of water right owned by R. H. Spencer in the waters of Indianola Creek, Thistle Creek and Rock Creek in addition to waters now used for the irrigation of the above described lands.

To the complaint of the Bank Commissioner Richard H. Spencer, Annie H. Spencer, John Edison

Spencer, Elizabeth A. Tibbs, et al, filed a general demurrer and an answer. In the answer they denied most of the allegations of the complaint.

To the complaint filed by John A. Malia, as Bank Commissioner, the Indianola Irrigation Company filed an answer and cross complaint. In its answer it admitted most of the allegations of the complaint and in its cross complaint it sought to enjoin the transfer of the certificates of stock held by the other parties to the action.

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