1949

James C. Whittaker v. Richard Spencer, John Edison Spencer, Elizabeth A. Tibbs, Vord Spencer, Irwin M. Price, Simon Huguen-Tobler, Indianola Irrigation Company and the State of Utah :
Appealed from the Seventh Judicial District Court, in and for Sanpete County, State of Utah. John A. Hougaard, Judge.

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The Price Affidavit

Inasmuch as the only right which Richard H. Spen-

cer and John Edison Spencer have ever claimed to the Hugentobler and Whittaker water rights, since the execution of the sheriff's deeds thereon in the foreclosure sale in case No. 2888, is based upon their claim that Irwin M. Price was the owner of certificates 72 and 73 and they had an understanding with him for the use of the water right represented by those certificates, it is no wonder their camp was thrown into confusion and consternation upon the filing of the Irwin M. Price affidavit.

The utter falsehood of their claim was exposed by that affidavit. Having themselves disclaimed all interest in all the water rights described in the plaintiff's complaint, and having taken Hugentobler's and Hadlock's water turns under the claim that Price owned 72 and 73, and they had rented the water from him, they stood exposed to shame as trespassers and water thieves, with no semblance of rights upon which to justify their conduct over all the years since 1938 during which they have taken the water when it was Hadlock's and Whittaker's turns.

The Price affidavit was not produced by the plaintiff. It came into the case from the administrator in his cross action against John Edison and Mrs. Tibbs.

If it had not been for the false claim which they caused to be set up in the answer of Irwin M. Price to our complaint, this case would have been summarily disposed of years ago; for plaintiff would have been entitled to judgment on the pleadings against all of the

defendants, Tibbs and some of the others being in default, Indianola Irrigation Company taking about the same position that plaintiff maintained, and Richard H. Spencer and John Edison Spencer having disclaimed.

We feel that a great wrong has been done to all parties concerned by the way Richard H. Spencer and John Edison Spencer have been permitted to trifle with the court and with the rights of others by hiding their actions behind the screen of the claim which they asserted in behalf of Irwin M. Price.

It was therefore no little satisfaction to us when, without any help from our side, their nefarious conduct stood exposed by the filing of the Price affidavit.

We simply could not help recollecting the old saw, that when thieves fall out just men get their dues.

II.

Whittaker's Right has not been Lost by Nonuser, nor by Adverse Possession.

Appellants John Edison Spencer and Elizabeth A. Tibbs in their brief at page 82 make the claim that the Whittaker right has been acquired by John Edison Spencer by adverse use and lost to plaintiff under Section 100-1-4, Code, and the doctrine of *Hammond v. Johnson*, 94 Utah 20, 66 Pac. (2d) 894.

In answer to such claim we point out the facts bearing upon the subject. Hadlock was not authorized to use the 60 acres of water right until his mortgage was fore-

closed and the sheriff's deed was issued on the foreclosure sale after the period of redemption had expired. During all that period the mortgagor had the right to the use of the water right. The sheriff's deed is dated December 9, 1937, recorded December 16, 1937, which was after the irrigation season for that year. So that Hadlock was not entitled to use the water until the beginning of the irrigation season of 1938.

There seems to have been no trouble over the use of the water in 1938. But when Hadlock and Whittaker took it in 1939, 1940 and 1941, in the turns assigned for its use, Richard H. Spencer and John Edison interfered with their use of it and took the water away from them. This action was filed in July of 1941 to quiet title to the right and the right has been in litigation ever since that time.

The foregoing facts do not sustain the claim that plaintiff has lost his right by not using it, for he did all he could do to make use of it and was prevented by the wrongful acts of those defendants. Not being willing to resort to the use of force to keep the water in his ditches when it was his turn to make use of it against these two trespassers, the plaintiff took the only course open to him to protect his right, namely, he filed his action in the district court to quiet his title and get an injunction against the defendants to restrain them from interfering with his use.

The facts refute the claim of abandonment and adverse title.

III.

**Appellants are estopped to claim
that the Hadlock mortgage is void.**

(a) They are estopped by the mortgage itself. Richard H. Spencer executed that mortgage. Appellant Richard Leo Spencer, as administrator of the estate of Richard H. Spencer, deceased, stands in no better position than did his intestate. Since Richard H. Spencer is estopped by the mortgage to say that it is void for uncertainty, so is his administrator estopped.

The rule of law under which this estoppel is claimed is the same with respect to a mortgage as to a deed.

In 21 C. J. 1067, Section 26, the rule is stated in this language:

“A person who assumes to convey an estate by deed is estopped, as against the grantee, to assert anything in derogation of the deed. He will not be heard, for the purpose of defeating the title of the grantee, to say that at the time of the conveyance he had no title, or that none passed by the deed, nor can he deny to the deed its full operation and effect as a conveyance.”

As to mortgages: 21 C. J. 1068, Section 27:

“Conforming to the general rule a mortgagor is estopped to assert anything in derogation of the rights which the instrument purports to convey....”

The general rule above stated must of necessity be the rule here because of the implied covenants in the mortgage.

The Hadlock mortgage is in the statutory form of mortgages in use in this state.

Section 78-1-13, Code, reads in part:

“Such a mortgage when executed as required by law shall have the effect of a conveyance of the land therein described to the mortgagee, his heirs, assigns and legal representatives, as security for the payment of the indebtedness therein set forth, with covenants from the mortgagor of general warranty of title. . . .”

What are the covenants of general warranty of title mentioned in this statute?

The answer, we suggest, is found in Section 78-1-11, Code, relative to warranty deeds. In this section it is provided:

“Such deed when executed as required by law shall have the effect of a conveyance in fee simple to the grantee, his heirs and assigns, of the premises therein named together with all appurtenances, rights and privileges there unto belonging, with covenants from the grantor, his heirs and personal representatives, that he is lawfully seised of the premises; that he has good right to convey the same; that he guarantees the grantee, his heirs and assigns in the quiet possession thereof; and that the grantor, his heirs and personal representatives will forever warrant and defend the title thereof in the grantee, his heirs and assigns against all lawful claims whatsoever.”

That such are the covenants of general warranty of title see also the definitions of “covenants of warranty”

in Bouvier's Law Dictionary; and 15 C. J. 1230, Section 40, under the title "Covenants," where it is said that in the United States the usual covenants of title are the covenants of seizen, or right to convey, against incumbrances, for quiet enjoyment, and of warranty.

It would indeed be a sad state of affairs if Richard H. Spencer, or his administrator, or any one claiming under him by a conveyance executed subsequent to the date of the Hadlock mortgage, were to be permitted to come in at this late date and say that the mortgage is void and the mortgagee got no title to the water right by the foreclosure of the mortgage and the purchase at the sheriff's sale.

Richard H. Spencer received the consideration for which he executed that mortgage. There would be no equity or justice in permitting his administrator or his children John Edison and Mrs. Tibbs to come in now and get the water right on the claim that the mortgage is void for uncertainty in the description, the only uncertainty claimed being that the description of the land to which the right was appurtenant is not included in the mortgage.

In equity and good conscience the appellants ought to be estopped.

(b) The administrator and John Edison are estopped by the disclaimers which were filed in answer to the complaint of the plaintiff in this action; and we think this goes for Mrs. Tibbs also because she is claim-

ing under her father. Richard H. Spencer's disclaimer has never been repudiated by any pleading filed in this action. John Edison's disclaimer has never been repudiated by him by any direct action on his part; he never did ask the lower court to permit him to withdraw that disclaimer or to be relieved from its binding effect. But he was permitted over our objection to file certain answers which are inconsistent with the disclaimer.

To disclaim means to disavow, to renunciate. In a pleading it means a renunciation by the defendant of all claim to the subject of the demand made by the plaintiff. (Bouvier's Law Dictionary.)

John Edison and Richard H. having renounced and disavowed by their verified pleading filed in this action all claims to the subject of the demand made by the plaintiff, namely, the 60 acres of water right which is the subject of this action, they are now estopped to assert that the Hadlock mortgage is void and that they own this same water right.

(c) Appellants are all estopped by the record and the judgment in case No. 2888 to assert that the Hadlock mortgage is void for uncertainty in the description of the water right.

The law on which we stand here is found in 21 C. J. 1063, Section 21, stated as follows:

“It is a well established rule that the records of a court of justice import absolute verity, and no one, whether or not a party to the proceeding

in which it was made, may in a collateral proceeding impeach it by adducing evidence in denial of the facts of which it purports to be a memorial."

See also 34 C. J. 511, Section 815, from which we quote:

"A judgment by a court having jurisdiction of the parties and the subject matter, unless reversed or annulled in some proper proceeding, is not open contradiction or impeachment, in respect to its *validity*, *verity*, or *binding effect*, by parties or privies, in any collateral action or proceeding, except for fraud in its procurement. . . ."

"The reason for the rule that judgments of a court of record cannot be called in question in a collateral proceeding is one of necessity. The basic reason for the rule is founded on the consideration that the regular and orderly way of trying the validity of judgments is by an appeal or other appropriate proceeding in the case itself, or under the statute permitting a vacation of judgments for certain enumerated reasons." Quoted from *Wick v. Rea*, 54 Wash. 424, 427, 103 Pac. 462.

Also see 34 C. J. 859, Section 1262, from which we quote:

"In an action for the recovery of real property, or to try title, or to foreclose a mortgage or other lien, or for trespass, defendant must set up all the titles or claims to the property which he holds or can make available in his behalf; failure to assert any title or claim in such action will preclude him from setting it up afterward. . . ."

See also: 34 C. J. 944, Section 1345, from which we quote:

“When the existence and VALIDITY of a deed or other contract is adjudicated, either being put in issue and tried, OR IN THE SENSE OF BEING NECESSARILY DETERMINED BY A JUDGMENT ENFORCING THE CONTRACT, or refusing to set it aside, the question is conclusively settled by the judgment for the purposes of all further litigation between the same parties; and this rule applies, even though the issue was not raised in the action, since in that case the judgment necessarily implies a finding that the cause of action was valid and enforceable. . . .”

The existence and validity of the Hadlock mortgage were tendered as issues in case No. 2888. John Edison Spencer and Elizabeth A. Tibbs were parties to that action; so was Richard H. Spencer a party, and all of them were served with summons and Richard H. and John Edison were actually present at the trial of that case.

If they had any idea that the Hadlock mortgage was void for the uncertainty in the description in the water right, they had an opportunity to assert that defense. That was the proper time for them to assert it, for then the plaintiff could have asked for a reformation of the mortgage if the court had held that the ~~reformation~~ ^{mortgage} was faulty. They had their day in court on that issue.

We cite still another statement from 34 C. J. 962, this time from Section 1368:

“The judgment in a mortgage foreclosure suit is conclusive of all questions actually tried and determined or necessarily involved, including title to the premises if that was in issue and passed upon. The general rules as to persons concluded by judgment are applicable to judgments in foreclosure proceedings. . . .”

The general rule is found in Section 1405, same volume :

“To constitute a judgment an estoppel there must be a substantial identity of parties as well as of subject matter; that is, it is necessary that the parties as between whom the judgment is claimed to be an estoppel must have been parties to the action in which it was rendered, in the same capacities and in the same antagonistic relation, or else they must be in privity with the parties in such former action. . . .”

In that action Hadlock was plaintiff and John Edison and Mrs. Tibbs was defendant and Richard H. Spencer, the intestate who is now represented by the administrator, was a defendant. The plaintiff stands in this case as plaintiff in the shoes of Hadlock. So that all the conditions for an estoppel are here present.

The court in No. 2888 found by implication that the Hadlock mortgage was a valid instrument and foreclosed it. It found that the mortgage covered the 60 acres of water right which is the subject of this action. The court also found as a fact in that case that the Hugentobler 55 acres and the Hadlock 60 acres of water right were part of the same water right was con-

veyed by Richard H. Spencer to the Indianola Irrigation Company on November 25, 1931, and which supported certificates 72 and 73.

So that we now say that all of the appellants in this action are estopped and in good conscience and equity they ought to be estopped to assert now that the Hadlock mortgage is void and to assert that the Hadlock mortgage covered any other water right than that which was conveyed to the irrigation company for the stock now represented in 72 and 73. The record and the judgment in case No. 2888 are conclusive against them.

Counsel in the brief accuses us of attempting in this action to relitigate case No. 2888, which is a surprising thing to say; because it is he and not us who has raised the issue in this case of the validity of the mortgage. We are only trying in this action to secure the benefits of the judgment in that case, to enforce it. We stand on the mortgage as written, we stand on the judgment as rendered. We ask for no reformation of the mortgage, for it needs no reformation.

IV.

The issue of the validity of the Hadlock mortgage is res adjudicata.

In case No. 2888 Hadlock, the state bank commissioner, pleaded his mortgage and prayed for its foreclosure. The defendants in that action, who included Richard H. Spencer and John Edison Spencer and Elizabeth A. Tibbs, were all served with summons in this state. After issues had been framed on the pleadings, a trial

was had to the court. The court found that the mortgage had been executed as alleged, that the defendants were in default, and the mortgage was foreclosed by the judgment of the court; and the court further found that the water rights which were included in the Hugentobler and Hadlock mortgages were part of the same water rights which were included in the deed to Indianola Irrigation Company and upon which rested the validity of certificates 72 and 73. The court in that case foreclosed the right of all of the defendants in that action, including the defendants Richard H. Spencer, John Edison and Elizabeth A. Tibbs, and also the Indianola Irrigation Company, in and to the water rights described in the Hugentobler and Hadlock mortgages. In other words, the court enforced the contract, which necessarily implied an adjudication that the contract or mortgage was a valid and binding obligation.

The law upon which we rely in support of our claim that the validity of the Hadlock is *res adjudicata* on these appellants is to be found in 34 C. J. 742, Section 1154, where the general rule is stated in the following language:

“The doctrine of *res judicata*, first definitely formulated in the Duchess of Kingston’s case, embodies two main rules, which may be stated as follows: “1) The Judgment or decree of a court of competent jurisdiction upon the merits concludes the parties and privies to the litigation and constitutes a bar to a new action or suit involving the same cause of action either before the same or

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